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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

ANTHONY BANKS,
Plaintiff,

V.
Case No. 25-cv-10203
CITY OF CHICAGO, OFFICER
WALTER, OFFICER VENEGAS,
UNKNOWN CHICAGO TACTICAL
POLICE OFFICERS, UNKNOWN
SERGEANT, and LIEUTENANT NARO,
Defendants.

COMPLAINT

NOW COMES the PLAINTIFF, ANTHONY BANKS, by and through his attorney,
Blake Horwitz, Esq., of The Blake Horwitz Law Firm, Ltd., and complaining of the
DEFENDANTS, CITY OF CHICAGO, OFFICER WALTER, OFFICER VENEGAS,
UNKNOWN CHICAGO TACTICAL POLICE OFFICERS, UNKNOWN SERGEANT, and
LIEUTENANT NARUO, states as follows:

I. JURISDICTION

1. The jurisdiction of the Court is invoked pursuant to the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983; the Judicial Code, 28 U.S.C. §1331 and §1343(a); the Constitution of the United States;
and this Court’s supplementary jurisdiction powers.

II. PARTIES

2. PLAINTIFF ANTHONY BANKS (“PLAINTIFF”) is a resident of the State of

Illinois and was, at all times relevant, employed as a police officer with the Chicago Police

Department (“CPD”) and assigned to the 11th District.
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3. DEFENDANT OFFICER WALTER (hereinafter, “DEFENDANT WALTER”), at
all times relevant, was employed by and acting on behalf of the CPD and under the color of state
law.

4. DEFENDANT OFFICER VENEGAS (hereinafter, “DEFENDANT WALTER?”),
at all times relevant, was employed by and acting on behalf of the CPD and under the color of state
law.

5. DEFENDANT UNKNOWN SERGEANT (hereinafter, “DEFENDANT
SERGEANT”), at all times relevant, was employed by and acting on behalf of the CPD and
under the color of state law.

6. DEFENDANT LIEUTENANT NARO (hereinafter “DEFENDANT NARO”), at
all times relevant, was employed by and acting on behalf of the CPD and under the color of state
law.

7. DEFENDANTS  UNKNOWN  TACTICAL  OFFICERS (collectively,
“DEFENDANT UNKNOWN OFFICERS” and individually, “DEFENDANT UNKNOW
OFFICER?), at all times relevant, were employed by and acting on behalf of the CPD and under
the color of state law.

8. The DEFENDANT CITY OF CHICAGO (hereinafter, “DEFENDANT CITY”) is
a duly incorporated municipal corporation and is the employer and principal of the DEFENDANT
OFFICERS. ! At all times material to this Complaint, the DEFENDANT OFFICERS were acting
under the color of state law, ordinance, and/or regulation, statutes, custom, and usages of the

DEFENDANT CITY.

! DEFENDANT WALTER, OFFICER VENEGAS, DEFENDANT SERGEANT, and DEFENDANT UNKNOWN
TACTICAL OFFICERS are referred to collectively as “DEFENDANT OFFICERS.”
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9. At all relevant times, the DEFENDANT OFFICERS and DEFENDANT NARO

were agents and/or employees of the DEFENDANT CITY.
1.  FACTS

10. On or about March 17, 2025, PLAINTIFF responded to a scene while on duty in
the 11th District.

11. At the scene, PLAINTIFF observed a heated exchange between a DEFENDANT
UNKNOWN OFFICER and a visibly pregnant woman. PLAINTIFF observed the DEFENDANT
UNKNOWN OFFICER bump into the woman, which escalated the confrontation.

12. PLAINTIFF attempted to de-escalate the situation by stepping between the
DEFENDANT UNKNOWN OFFICER and the pregnant woman and asking the DEFENDANT
UNKNOWN OFFICER to calm down.

13. Later that day, when PLAINTIFF returned to the police station, he was approached
in the doorway by the same DEFENDANT UNKNOWN OFFICER, who aggressively questioned
PLAINTIFF’s conduct at the scene and accused PLAINTIFF of interfering with his team.

14. Several DEFENDANT OFFICERS then encircled PLAINTIFF, who is African-
American.

15.  After being surrounded by several DEFENDANT OFFICERS, PLAINTIFF was
not free to leave.

16. One DEFENDANT UNKNOWN OFFICER told PLAINTIFF, "Go back where
you came from."

17. Another DEFENDANT UNKNOWN OFFICER said, “Go back to the third

district,” which is known for having predominantly African-American officers.
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18. Another DEFENDANT UNKNOWN OFFICER mumbled under his breath, “Nah
n*gga,” a racial slur directed at PLAINTIFF.

19. Two Chicago Police sergeants who witnessed the confrontation, intervened, and
helped PLAINTIFF separate from the DEFENDANT OFFICERS.

20. PLAINTIFF reported the incident to his lieutenant, DEFENDANT NARO, who
dismissed PLAINTIFF’s concerns and instead informed PLAINTIFF that officers in the station
were angry with him and instructed PLAINTIFF to leave early.

21. While enroute home, DEFENDANT NARO called PLAINTIFF and ordered him
to return to the station to write a statement (“To/From™). This To/From was a sensitive, confidential
internal document used to investigate wrongdoing.

22. On March 18, 2025, a fellow officer from PLAINTIFF’s former district (District 3)
informed PLAINTIFF that the To/From had been leaked online.

23. The To/From statement was in fact, leaked online by a Chicago police officer.

24. That night, on March 18, 2025, PLAINTIFF received a graphic and threatening
email containing a racist image on his department-issued phone. The image depicted a caricature
of an African-American man with a gun in his mouth, reading: “When is a n*gger the most
frustrated”? “When he tries to blow his own brains out.” (Attached as Exhibit A).

25. This image was sent by one of the DEFENDANT OFFICERS who encircled
PLAINTIFF, as alleged above.

26. The image was sent to PLAINTIFF’s work phone.

217. PLAINTIFF is now on medical leave due to emotional distress, trauma, and fear

for his safety.
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28. On July 31, 2025, Plaintiff received a right-to-sue letter from the EEOC regarding
his EEOC Charge.
COUNT 1

§1983 Fourth Amendment Seizure
(Against DEFENDANT OFFICERS)

29. PLAINTIFF realleges paragraphs 1 — 28 as though fully set forth herein.

30. On or around March 17, 2025, DEFENDANT OFFICERS surrounded
PLAINTIFF, while on duty and in uniform, prevented PLAINTIFF from leaving, and detained
PLAINTIFF without lawful authority or probable cause.

31.  PLAINTIFF was not free to leave while surrounded by the DEFENDANT
OFFICERS.

32. The actions of DEFENDANT OFFICERS directly and proximately caused
PLAINTIFF to suffer, without limitation, pain and suffering, humiliation, emotional distress, and
mental anguish.

33. The actions of DEFENDANT OFFICERS were the direct and proximate cause of
the injuries that PLAINTIFF sustained as a result of DEFENDANT OFFICERS violating
PLAINTIFF’s constitutional rights, as alleged above.

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF respectfully requests that this Court award PLAINTIFF
compensatory damages, punitive damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees, as well as any other
relief this Court deems just and equitable.

COUNT 1T

False Imprisonment
(Against DEFENDANT OFFICERS)

34.  PLAINTIFF realleges paragraphs 1 — 28 as though fully set forth herein.

35. One or more of the DEFENDANT OFFICERS restricted PLAINTIFF’s movement.
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36. One or more DEFENDANT OFFICERS restricted PLAINTIFF’s movement
unreasonably and without probable cause.

37. PLAINTIFF’s personal freedom was curtailed against his wishes by one or more of
the DEFENDANT OFFICERS.

38. PLAINTIFF’s detention by one or more of the DEFENDANT OFFICERS was
unreasonable and unlawful.

39, As a result of one or more DEFENDANT OFFICERS’ unlawful conduct,
PLAINTIFF suffered and continues to suffer from emotional and psychological injuries, physical
injuries, and other damages.

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF respectfully requests that this Court award PLAINTIFF
compensatory damages, punitive damages, and costs, as well as any other
relief this Court deems just and equitable.

COUNT 11
Violation of Civil Rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983

(Equal Protection & Substantive Due Process)
(Against DEFENDANT OFFICERS and DEFENDANT NARO)

40. PLAINTIFF realleges paragraphs 1 — 28 as though fully set forth herein.

41. DEFENDANT OFFICERS and DEFENDANT NARO, under color of law,
subjected PLAINTIFF to racially motivated harassment, retaliation, and the unauthorized
dissemination of confidential information, depriving PLAINTIFF of equal protection under the
Fourteenth Amendment

42. The DEFENDANT OFFICERS’ and DEFENDANT NARO’s conduct was
outrageous, discriminatory, and inflicted intentional emotional harm on PLAINTIFF.

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF respectfully requests that this Court award PLAINTIFF

compensatory damages, punitive damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees, as well as any other
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relief this Court deems just and equitable.

COUNT IV
42 U.S.C. § 1981 — Racial Discrimination in Employment
(Against DEFENDANT OFFICERS)

43. PLAINTIFF realleges paragraphs 1 — 28 as though fully set forth herein.

44. PLAINTIFF, an African-American employee, was subjected to hostile and
discriminatory treatment by DEFENDANT OFFICERS because of his race.

45, DEFENDANT OFFICERS’ actions—including the use of racial slurs, exclusion,
and physical intimidation—interfered with PLAINTIFF’s conditions of employment in violation
of 42 U.S.C. § 1981.

46. DEFENDANT OFFICERS’ conduct was intentional, malicious, and in reckless
disregard of PLAINTIFF’s rights.

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF respectfully requests that this Court award PLAINTIFF
compensatory damages, punitive damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees, as well as any other
relief this Court deems just and equitable.

COUNT V

Title VII — Racial Discrimination
(Against DEFENDANT CITY)

47.  PLAINTIFF realleges paragraphs 1 — 46 as though fully set forth herein.

48.  PLAINTIFF was subjected to a racially hostile work environment, discrimination,
and disparate treatment by CPD officers and supervisors.

49.  Defendant CITY failed to prevent or correct the discrimination and was deliberately
indifferent to the violations, in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act.

50. As a result, PLAINTIFF has suffered emotional distress, reputational harm, and

career setbacks.
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WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF respectfully requests that this Court enter Judgment in his
favor and against the DEFENDANT CITY and award compensatory damages, court costs,
attorneys’ fees, and such other relief that this Court deems just and equitable.

COUNT VI

Respondeat Superior
(Against DEFENDANT CITY)

51. PLAINTIFF realleges paragraphs 1 — 46 as though fully set forth herein.

52. At all relevant times, DEFENDANT CITY was the employer and/or principal of
INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS as their employer.

53.  Atall relevant times, DEFENDANTS were employed by DEFENDANT CITY.

54. INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS’ conduct described in this Complaint occurred
within the scope of their employment with DEFENDANT CITY.

55. As the INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS’ employer, DEFENDANT CITY is liable
for their conduct committed within the scope of their employment.

WHEREFORE, should this Court find any INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS liable for any
state-law claims described in this Complaint, PLAINTIFF prays for judgment against
DEFENDANT CITY as their principal and employer pursuant to the doctrine of respondeat
superior and such other additional relief as this Honorable Court deems just and equitable.

COUNT VII

Indemnification Pursuant to 745 ILCS 10/9-102
(AGAINST DEFENDANT CITY)

56.  PLAINTIFF realleges paragraphs 1 — 55 as though fully set forth herein.

57.  DEFENDANT CITY is the employer of the DEFENDANT OFFICERS.
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58. In the event that the DEFENDANT OFFICERS are found liable for their actions
performed in the course of their employment, the DEFENDANT CITY must indemnify such
employee for this verdict pursuant to 745 ILCS 10/9-102.

59. Pursuant to the Illinois Tort Immunity Act, 745 ILCS 10/9-102, DEFENDANT
CITY is liable for any judgments for compensatory damages arising from DEFENDANT
OFFICERS’ actions.

WHEREFORE, should the DEFENDANT OFFICERS in their individual capacities be
found liable for any of the alleged counts in this cause, PLAINTIFF demands that, pursuant to 745
ILCS 10/9-102, DEFENDANT CITY pay any judgment obtained against any of the

DEFENDANT OFFICERS.

JURY DEMAND

PLAINTIFF demands trial by a twelve-person jury.
Respectfully submitted,

s/Blake Horwitz
Plaintiff’s Attorney

Blake Horwitz, Esq.

The Blake Horwitz Law Firm, Ltd.
216 S. Jefferson St., Ste. 101
Chicago, IL 60661

Phone: (312) 676-2100
bhorwitz@bhlfattorneys.com
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